CENTER FOR

ELDER

LAW &
JUSTICE

Emerald South: Profile of a Nursing Home

Prepared by Center for Elder Law & Justice Staff Attorney Lindsay Heckler and University at
Buffalo Law School Professor Emeritus Tony Szczygiel
Profile Date: July 13, 2018

Purpose and Overview of the Profile

Every nursing home resident, whether in a nursing home for a short-term (i.e. for rehabilitative
services after a hospital stay) or long-term stay, deserves quality care and to be safe from harm,
abuse, and neglect. As documented throughout this report, we believe actions taken by Emerald
South operators such as cutting of staff, has adversely impacted resident care. Private, for-profit
ownership has failed to improve resident safety and quality of care.

No one expects to enter a nursing home (for rehabilitation or long-term). However, it is estimated
that among persons age 57 to 61, 56% will stay in a nursing home for at least one night during
their lifetime.! The quality and safety of care in WNY nursing homes is a community-wide issue.

Our goal in developing these Nursing Home Profiles is to improve the quality of care in Western
New York (WNY) nursing homes by (1) providing unbiased information on area facilities and
ownership and (2) a call to action for the State to address quality of care issues not only in WNY
but across NYS.

We believe there is value in providing unbiased information on area nursing homes. With this
information, residents and community members will gain a better understanding of how nursing
homes operate, how to distinguish high performing facilities from those that are low performing,
and act to improve quality of care. Patients, residents, and advocates need to speak up for the
resident’s right to receive high quality care and to attain or maintain their highest practicable

1 Hurd, M., Pierre-Carl, M., Rohwedder, S., “Distribution of Lifetime Nursing Home Use and of Out-Of-Pocket
Spending. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences Sept 2018, 114 (37) 9838-9842;
http://www.pnas.org/content/114/37/9838 ; and https://www.rand.org/news/press/2017/08/28/index1.html
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physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being regardless of income, race, socio-economic status,

or connections.?

This profile draws information from public records regarding important indicators of quality and
two nursing home ranking systems: the federal Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)
Nursing Home Compare (NHC) and the New York State (NYS) Nursing Home Quality Initiative

(NHQI).?

This report begins with an overview of WNY nursing homes, and then focuses on one facility,

Emerald South, as follows:

Topic Page #

Summary of Emerald South and it’s Indicators of Quality 5
Ownership/Operator History of Emerald South and Related Facilities; 6
Overview of CMS Nursing Home Compare 7
Overview of the Survey System and Summary of Recent DOH Inspections and 9
Repeat Deficiencies at Emerald South

Summary of Staffing Data for Emerald South 18
Summary of CMS Quality Measure Data for Emerald South 20
Summary of NHQI Ranking for Emerald South 23
CMS Special Focus Facility Designation and Federal and State Enforcement for 24
Emerald South

Resources for Nursing Home Residents and Supporters 27
Call to Action to Improve Quality of Care in WNY Nursing Homes 31

2 This is the federal nursing home legal standard. For additional information on nursing home regulations and

resident rights, visit: http://theconsumervoice.org/ ; https://nursinghome411.org/ ; and
http://www.justiceinaging.org/nursing-homes/

3 public records utilized: NYS Department of Health (DOH) survey visits that report each facility’s compliance with
federal minimum health standards as well as fire and safety codes; nursing home-reported staffing levels; quality of
care measures; and recent changes, if any, in the approved operators of the nursing home. The two nursing home
ranking systems, NHC and NHQI share one feature — they process the available performance data from each nursing
home and then rank the facilities in 5 tiers, distinguishing higher performing facilities from the lower. NHC and NHQI
utilize many common factors related to quality of care, but place differing weights on those factors. Each draws on

unique measures, thus offering two viewpoints on a facility’s performance.
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Overview of Western New York Nursing homes

There are 72 nursing homes in the eight WNY counties with just over 10,000 beds.* The facilities
vary widely in size, from 30 beds to 390.> The overall occupancy rate for the eight counties is less
than 92%. DOH estimates that four WNY counties (Cattaraugus, Chautauqua, Erie and Niagara)
have almost 700 more nursing home beds than are needed to serve the population. The
remaining four rural counties (Allegany, Genesee, Orleans and Wyoming) are estimated to have
an unmet need of over 400 beds to serve the population.®

Among these 72 facilities, some are high performing and others are low performing. The quality
of care at any nursing home can change over time. Every facility is required to have an
administrator and sufficient staff to provide the care that each resident needs to reach his or her
highest practicable level of functioning. However, the Operator of the facility has the ultimate
responsibility for the care provided.’

In the last decade the operators of WNY nursing homes have changed significantly. The
predominant model has moved away from a stand-alone facility with a not-for-profit owner and
operator. Only 10 such facilities still operate. Publicly owned and operated nursing homes also
are on the wane. In recent years, three County facilities (Chautauqua?®, Genesee® and Orleans?)

4 Allegany has 4 nursing homes (361 beds); Cattaraugus 5 nursing homes (552 beds); Chautauqua 7 nursing homes
(924 beds); Erie 37 nursing homes (5,882 beds); Genesee 4 nursing homes (488 beds); Niagara 10 (1389 beds);
Orleans 3 nursing homes (310 beds); Wyoming 2 nursing homes (218 beds). See, e.g.
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pg5-n9py/data last accessed June 20, 2018,
CMS updated May 1, 2018.

5ld.

6 Figures are for 2016. https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/nursing/rhcf bed need by county.htm, last
accessed June 20, 2018.

7 See 42 CFR 483.70: a facility must be administered in a manner that enables it to use its resources effectively and
efficiently to attain or maintain the highest practicable physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being of each
resident. The governing body of the facility is responsible for appointing the administrator, and refers to
individuals such as facility owner(s). See also NY PHL 2801(1) and 10 NYCRR 600.9.

8 See CON Project # 141215-E; and https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2014/02/27/legislature-wraps-
16m-sale-of.html

9 See CON Project # 152380-E; and https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2015/06/18/genesee-county-
home-sells-for-15-2m-to-li-firm.html

10 See CON Project # 141128-E; and https://www.democratandchronicle.com/story/news/2015/01/02/orleans-
countys-nursing-home-sold/21193753/
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have been privatized, Niagara County closed its facility,'* and Erie County’s facilities have
consolidated and downsized.'? Four WNY facilities remain as County operated nursing homes.*3

The new prevailing model features operators with multiple nursing home facilities. Most
operations are now run as for-profit businesses.'* 46 WNY nursing homes are operated by for-
profit businesses (64% of local facilities). By comparison, 21 have not-for-profit operators (29%);
4 operate as county facilities (5.5%); and 1 is a State-operated Veterans Home.'> The trend
toward for-profit operation/ownership is continuing as, in the past 2 years, for-profit operators
have purchased four not-for-profit facilities and their operations. Also noteworthy is that
investors from outside the area own and operate an increasing number of these facilities.
Moreover, as evidence of the increasing concentration of ownership, four groups operate almost
50% of the nursing beds in WNY.16

Under the prevailing for-profit model, operators seek to cut costs to maximize profit. It is the
belief of CELJ and other advocacy groups that this is done at the expense of resident safety.
Vigilance in compliance and enforcement of nursing home laws and regulations is necessary in
order to ensure every individual in WNY (and across the state) receives quality of care. It is a
human rights issue and a taxpayer savings issue when nursing home quality of care suffers for
the benefit of for-profit operators.

1 The Niagara County nursing home closed in December 2007 in response to the Berger Commission
determination there was an excess of nursing home beds. It reopened as Mount View Assisted Living in June 2015.
See https://www.cgr.org/NY-county-nursing-homes/docs/FutureofNursingHomes NYS.pdf and
https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/blog/morning roundup/2015/04/mount-view-assisted-living-readies-for-
june.html

12 See https://www.cgr.org/NY-county-nursing-homes/docs/FutureofNursingHomes NYS.pdf

13 Terrace View (Erie County); The Pines Machias and Olean facilities (Cattaraugus County) and Wyoming County
Community Hospital SNF. See https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pg5-
n9py/data; and https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data . Accessed
June 19, 2018.

14 Each for-profit facility is separately established as a for-profit Limited Liability Corporation (LLC). In most cases, a
separate but related LLC owns the building and real estate.

15 See https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pq5-n9py/data; and
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data .

16 The Sherman family and business associates operate facilities with 1477 beds, including those branded as
Absolut; Post Acute Care is responsible for 1065 beds; the McGuire Group and family operate 966 beds and the
Landa family and business associates operate facilities with 993 beds. Information obtained from:
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pg5-n9py/data; and
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data , last accessed June 20,
2018.



https://www.cgr.org/NY-county-nursing-homes/docs/FutureofNursingHomes_NYS.pdf
https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/blog/morning_roundup/2015/04/mount-view-assisted-living-readies-for-june.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/blog/morning_roundup/2015/04/mount-view-assisted-living-readies-for-june.html
https://www.cgr.org/NY-county-nursing-homes/docs/FutureofNursingHomes_NYS.pdf
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pq5-n9py/data
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pq5-n9py/data
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data%20.%20Accessed%20June%2019
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data%20.%20Accessed%20June%2019
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pq5-n9py/data
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data
https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-Compare/Provider-Info/4pq5-n9py/data
https://health.data.ny.gov/Health/Health-Facility-General-Information/vn5v-hh5r/data

CENTER FOR

ELDER

LAW &
JUSTICE

Summary of Emerald South and its Indicators of Quality’’

Ownership: Emerald South is a 122-bed facility located at 1175 Delaware Avenue, Buffalo New
York. Opal Care LLC d/b/a Emerald South Rehabilitation and Care Center, a for-profit business
entity, has operated this facility since 2014. The sole member of Opal Care LLC is Judy Landa.!®

1175 Delaware Avenue Realty, LLC owns the building and land in/on which the facility operates.®
Ms. Landa’s husband, Benjamin, is a member of 1175 Delaware Avenue Realty. From 2012 to
2014, the facility was operated by Receiver Services, whose sole member was Benjamin Landa.?°
The not-for-profit Presbyterian Senior Services operated the facility before the receivership.

Survey results: The DOH Statement of Deficiencies from the most recent annual survey of
Emerald South, completed on May 8, 2018, identified 27 health deficiencies, with the maximum
severity being F, no actual harm with potential for more than minimal harm that is not immediate
jeopardy and is widespread. Emerald South has five times the amount of health deficiencies
compared to the statewide average over the prior 3 year period and has a pattern of repeat
violations.?! On June 15, 2018 DOH determined an Immediate Jeopardy situation existed in
Emerald South as a result of the June 4, 2018 incident whereby a resident fell to his death.

Staffing: Emerald South has a NHC 1-star (out of 5 stars) staffing rating; much below average,
and either failed to submit required payroll based journal data to CMS, or the submitted data did
not meet criteria required to calculate a staffing measure.??

17 Each area will be discussed in greater detail in this Profile.

18 State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project #161368. Judy Landa also has ownership or a
partnership interest in the following WNY facilities: Emerald North Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, Safire
Rehabilitation of Northtowns, LLC and Safire Rehabilitation of Southtowns, LLC, as well as three other NYS nursing
homes. Her husband Benjamin, in addition to his real estate holdings, has an operational interest in about 130
nursing homes. Information obtained through https://data.medicare.gov/Nursing-Home-
Compare/Ownership/y2hd-n93e/data

19 State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project #161368, p 7.

014, p.1.

21 From the period Junel 1, 2014 through May 31, 2018, Emerald South received 100 standard health citations
(state average 20) and 72 life safety code violations (state average 13).

https://profiles.health.ny.gov/nursing home/view/150362#inspections last accessed July 10, 2018

22 CMS NHC:
https://www.medicare.gov/nursinghomecompare/profile.html#profTab=0&ID=335593&loc=14209&lat=42.91379
21&Ing=-
78.8637428&name=EMERALD%20SOUTH%20NURSING%20AND%20REHABILITATION%20CENTER&Distn=0.3 , last
accessed July 10, 2018; CMS updated June 1, 2018.
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Quality Measures: Emerald South has a NHC 5-star (out of 5 stars) rating for quality measures
which are primarily based on facility self-reported data.??

Ratings: NHC ranks Emerald South as a 2-star facility (out of 5 stars); below average.?* NHQI
ranks Emerald South in the 4t quintile of NYS facilities, that is, within the lowest rated 40% of
nursing homes in NYS.2°

Federal and State Enforcement: Emerald South is now a CMS Special Focus Facility (SFF) as of
June 21, 2018.2% Emerald South agreed to pay fines to DOH stemming from regulatory
deficiencies twice: $2,000 on January 3, 2017 for physical environment violations from the
January 13, 2016 complaint investigation; and $10,000 on December 19, 2016 for quality of care
violations from the September 16, 2016 complaint investigation.?’

Ownership Background through Today

The not-for-profit Presbyterian Senior Care of Western New York (Presbyterian) previously
owned and operated this facility under the name Hawthorne Health Multicare Center for Living
(Hawthorne). In mid-2012 Presbyterian transferred operational control to a receiver, Receiver
Services, LLC, whose sole member was Benjamin Landa, Judy Landa’s husband.

In order to operate a nursing home, DOH must approve the prospective operator through the
Certificate of Need (CON) application process.?® Judy Landa and Barry Jeremias filed the CON
application to become the new operators of Hawthorne, to be renamed Emerald South. The
financial plan, as outlined in the CON, and approved by the DOH, focused on cutting costs and
increasing revenues. The applicants noted that Benjamin Landa, as receiver, had reduced staffing
for a cost savings of over $677,000. He also cancelled two contracts to save about $300,000.
Finally, he had enhanced revenues through the facility’s policy exclusive contract “to admit
residents who are difficult to discharge from the hospital...” Benjamin Landa, at the time of the
CON application with DOH, was a member of 1175 Delaware Avenue Realty, LLC that owned the

3 d.

24 d.

2 https://www.health.ny.gov/health care/medicaid/redesign/nhqi/2017/docs/quintile ranking.pdf

26 See page 24 of this report for discussion.

27 In the Matter of Zucker v Opal, Care, LLC: State of New York: Department of Health Stipulation and Order NH-17-
001; and NH-17-009

28 For additional information on the CON process visit: https://www.health.ny.gov/facilities/cons/
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property. Opal Care, LLC pays 1175 Delaware Avenue Realty rent. Under the lease agreement,
Opal Care, LLC is responsible for taxes, utilities, insurance and maintenance.?’

The DOH approved Opal Care, LLC's application to become the new operator of Emerald South
on December 12, 2013. On the same date, DOH approved Ruby Care, LLC (comprised of the same
Judy Landa and Barry Jeremias) to take over the operation of the neighboring nursing home,
Harbour Health, to operate under the new name, Emerald North Nursing and Rehabilitation
Center. At the time, DOH found there was a need for the continuation of these operation even
though Erie County had a surplus of over 600 nursing home beds.3°

In 2016, Mr. Jeremias transferred his operational shares in both facilities to Judy Landa for the
purchase price of $10.00.3!

In addition to the two Emeralds, the DOH approved the Landas to operate two other local nursing
homes, Safire Rehabilitation of Northtowns (formerly Sheridan Manor) and Safire Rehabilitation
of Southtowns (formerly Ridgeview Manor). 32

Overview of CMS Nursing Home Compare (NHC)

NHC allows consumers to compare information about nursing homes.33 It contains detailed
quality of care and staffing information, as well as survey results, for all 15,000 plus Medicare
and Medicaid participating nursing homes. Much of the information discussed in this profile is
drawn from the NHC databases.

CMS also created the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families, and
caregivers compare nursing homes more easily and to help identify areas about which they may
want to ask questions. The NHC Website shows an Overall rating for each nursing home;
between 1 and 5 stars. Nursing homes with 5 stars are considered to have “much above average”
quality and nursing homes with 1 star are considered to have “much below average” quality.
CMS advises consumers to use the NHC Website together with other sources of information for
the nursing homes, especially including a visit to the nursing home.

29 See State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project #131156- E;
https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/blog/morning roundup/2013/11/transfer-of-2-delaware-ave-nursing.html ;
and
https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2016/05/25/ownership-shifts-for-two-buffalo-nursing-homes.html

30 State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project #131156- E, p.3.

31 https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2016/05/25/ownership-shifts-for-two-buffalo-nursing-homes.html ;
see also State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project # 161367 and 161368.

32 State Public Health and Health Planning Council CON Project #141235-E (Oct. 2, 2014); State Public Health and
Health Planning Council CON Project #141237-E (Oct. 2, 2015). Their application to operate a fifth local nursing
home, Williamsville Suburban) is pending. The website http://safirecare.com/ includes Williamsville Suburban as
one of the facilities it operates.

33 https://www.medicare.gov/nursinghomecompare
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In addition to the Overall rating, the NHC Website also gives a separate rating for each of the
following three measures that determine the Overall rating:

e Health Inspections — The health inspection rating contains information from the last 2 years
of onsite inspections, including both standard surveys and any complaint surveys. Each
deficiency identified is given a point score to reflect its scope and severity. The higher the
point score means the worse the inspections. For purposes of the star rating, the most recent
survey score is given more weight than the prior year.3* The weighted scores are then added
to create the total health inspection score for the nursing home. (Note: CMS instituted a new
inspection survey process for use by every State beginning November 28, 2017. The health
inspection score is currently frozen until every nursing home has been inspected using the
new process. As such, any surveys that occur from November 28, 2017 through November
27, 2018, will not be included in the facility’s Health Inspection star rating.)3°

e Staffing — The staffing rating has information about the number of hours of staff time per
resident each day by the RNs, LPNs and Certified Nurse Aides (CNAs). This rating considers
differences in the levels of residents' care need in each nursing home. For example, a nursing
home with residents who had more severe needs would be expected to have more nursing
staff than a nursing home where the resident needs were not as high.3®

e Quality Measures (QMs) - The quality measure rating has information on 16 different physical
and clinical measures for nursing home residents. The nursing home collects this information
for all of its short term and long term residents. The QMs offer information about how well
nursing homes are caring for their residents’ physical and clinical needs. Each measure is
compared to state averages.?’

34 CMS Design for Nursing Home Compare Five-Star Quality Rating System: Technical Users’ Guide (May 2018)
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/CertificationandComplianc/Downloads/usersguide.pdf

35 CMS Survey and Cert Letter 18-04-NH https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/SurveyCertificationGenlnfo/Policy-and-Memos-to-States-and-Regions-ltems/Survey-and-Cert-Letter-
18-04.htmI?DLPage=1&DLEntries=10&DLSort=2&DLSortDir=descending

36 CMS Design for Nursing Home Compare Five-Star Quality Rating System: Technical Users’ Guide (May 2018)
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/CertificationandComplianc/Downloads/usersguide.pdf

371d.
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Overview of the Survey System and Summary of Recent DOH Survey Visits to Emerald South

Congress set minimum health and fire safety standards for nursing homes that choose to be part
of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In return for these government payments, nursing
homes agree to follow the minimum health and fire safety standards and cooperate with an on-
site survey process that is conducted about once a year. DOH conducts these periodic inspections
and also investigates complaints about nursing home care filed by residents or others. DOH does
not give prior notice to the facility as to when the survey team will arrive.38

CMS calculates a weighted score for each survey health inspection based on the scope and
severity of the deficiencies that DOH identifies. More serious, widespread deficiencies receive
more points. If DOH has to conduct repeat visits to confirm that deficiencies have been corrected,
more points are added to the score.?’

The below tables show how the points are assigned:

Table 1
Health Inspection Score: Weiﬂhts for Different Types of Deficiencies
Severity Scope
Isolated Pattern Widespread
Immediate jeopardy to resident health or J K L
safety 50 points" 100 points™ 150 points®
(75 points) (125 paintzs) (175 paints)
Actual hamn that is not immediate jeopardy G H 1
20 points 35 points. 45 poimnts
(40 points) (=0 points)
Mo actual harm with potential for more than D E F
minimal harm that is not immediate jecpardy | 4 points 8 points 16 points
(20 points)
Mo actual harm with potential for minimal A B c
harm 0 point 0 points 0 points

Mote: Figures in parentheses indicate points for deficiencies that are for substandard quality of care

Shaded cells denote deficency fseverity levels that constibute substandard quality of care if the
requirement which is not met is one that falls under the following federal reg..la'hm& 42 CFR 483.13 resident
behawor and nursing home practices, 42 CFR 433,15 quality of ife. 42 CFR 48325 guality of care.

* If the status of the deficiency is "past non-compliance” and the severnity is Immediate Jeopardy. then poinis
associated with a "G-level” deficiency (i.e.. 20 points) are assigned.

Source: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

38 See page 25 of this report for flowchart and discussion on the enforcement process. For additional information
on the survey inspection process visit: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/SurveyCertificationGenInfo/index.html

39 See, CMS Design for Nursing Home Compare Five-Star Quality Rating System: Technical Users’ Guide (May 2018)
https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/CertificationandComplianc/Downloads/usersguide.pdf
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Table 2
Weights for Repeat Revisits
Revisit Mumber Honcompliance Points
First 0
Second 50 percent of health inspection score
Third 70 percent of health inspection score
Fourth 85 percent of health inspection score

MNote: The health inspection score includes points from deficiencies cited on the standard
health inspection and complaint inspections during a given survey cycle.

On its most recent annual inspection, completed May 8, 2018, Emerald South was cited for 27
health deficiencies and CELJ calculates health inspection score of 108 points.*® We expect this
number to significantly increase as a result of the incident that occurred on June 4, 2018 whereby
a resident fell to his death.*

In response to the incident, DOH re-entered Emerald South and determined on June 15, 2018, an
Immediate Jeopardy (lJ) situation existed effective June 14, 2018, in violation of federal
regulation 42 CFR 483.25(d)(1)(2) (F689) for failure to ensure the resident environment remains
free of accident hazards and failure to have a system in place to effectively respond to significant
reported concerns. Specifically, as identified by letter to Emerald South Administrator from DOH
on June 18, 2018:

The director of maintenance reported to the interdisciplinary team that a resident,
who resided on the third floor of the facility, repeatedly removed screws that
prevented the window in his room from opening beyond six inches. The facility
failed to implement appropriate interventions and supervision to ensure the
resident’s safety. On 6/4/18, the resident opened the window in his room,
attempted to climb out and fell to the ground.

An 1) deficiency is when the deficiency results in noncompliance and immediate action is
necessary; an event has caused, or is likely to cause, serious injury, harm, impairment or death
to the residents. The DOH cited Emerald South 1) under the scope and severity of “L”. “L” is the

40 NYS DOH Survey Event ID WXV11. To obtain a copy visit

https://profiles.health.ny.gov/nursing home/view/150362#inspections . As of July 10, 2018 the survey is not on
CMS nursing home compare.

41 See numerous media reports including: https.//www.wgrz.com/article/news/local/87-year-old-man-dies-after-
fall-from-nursing-home-window/71-561353409; https.//www.wivb.com/news/local-news/qget-up-here-your-father-
is-going-through-hell-man-describes-father-s-situation-at-emerald-south/1223110364 ;
http.//spectrumlocalnews.com/nys/buffalo/crime-safety/2018/06/04/emerald-south-nursing-rehabilitation-center-
buffalo
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worst deficiency rating and means there was IJ to resident health or safety and the issue was
widespread.*?

The 1) status was removed June 19, 2018, when, DOH re-visited Emerald South and determined
the deficiencies that resulted in IJ were sufficiently corrected and the scope and severity of the
deficiency was lowered to a “G”.*® “G” is when a deficiency resulted in actual harm that is
isolated.** In removing |J status, DOH stated the following actions were taken by Emerald South:

100% of all facility windows were checked on June 14, 2018 by maintenance personnel
and the Administrator to ensure all windows stoppers were securely fastened.

A 100% audit of all windows in the facility has been completed daily to ensure safety.

A new policy and procedure was developed to ensure that facility staff identify and
communicate all potential or actual accident/hazard risks and clinical/behavioral
concerns to the administrator and the interdisciplinary team in daily morning meetings,
to ensure timely follow-up action is taken. Off-shift and weekend nursing supervisors will
also complete required communication and work request forms to ensure immediate
action is taken and all urgent concerns will require Administrator and Director of Nursing
notification.

In-service education regarding the new policy and procedure was provided to all
interdisciplinary team members, department heads, and nursing supervisors.

Survey staff interviewed the Administrator, Director of Nursing, interdisciplinary team
members, department heads, maintenance staff and nursing supervisors to ensure their
understanding of the new daily reporting and follow-up process to ensure that resident
and environmental concerns are addressed in a timely manner.

Residents’ medical records and 24 hour reports were reviewed by survey staff on 6/20/18
to ensure that clinical/behavioral concerns were identified and communicated to the
interdisciplinary team and addressed in a timely manner to ensure residents’ health and
safety.*

42 See page 25 of this report to see how I fits within the enforcement process. For additional information on 1) see
CMS State Operations Manual, Appendix Q-Guidelines for Determining Immediate Jeopardy:
https://www.cms.qov/Requlations-and-

Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap q immedjeopardy.pdf

43 DOH letter to Emerald South Administrator, June 21, 2018, amended July 2, 2018.
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Emerald South has a history of being cited for repeat (chronic) deficiencies. When DOH issues a
citation for violation of a regulatory requirement, the facility is supposed to rectify the issue. It is
concerning when there are chronic deficienices cited by DOH for the same regulatory violation.%®

For example, Emerald South has been cited for regulatory violations under F689 (Free of Accident
Hazarads/Supervision/Devices) 4’ 7 times since March 10, 20158;

Citation Description of Deficiency Scope/Severity Deficiency
Date Correction
Date®
06/15/18 Resident repeatedly removed screws that IJ to resident TBD
prevented window from opening beyond six | health or safety
inches; resident died when he fell to the that is
ground. widespread. (L);
removed to (G)
onJune 21,
2018.
05/08/18 One resident had issues involving lack of No actual harm | TBD
effective interventions and revisions to the with potential
plan of care to prevent falls. for more than
minimal harm
Another resident had lack of that is not IJ that
supervision/cueing during meals-resident is isolated. (D)
had a diagnosis of dysphagia (difficulty
swallowing).
02/16/17 Two of three units observed had issues with | No actual harm | 04/12/2017
the lack of window stops on three resident with potential
room windows (allowing for windows to for more than
minimal harm

46 For additional information on the issue of chronic deficiencies, see LTCCC's report, “Chronic Deficiencies in Care.
The persistence of Recurring Failures to Meet Minimum Safety & Dignity Standards in U.S. Nursing Homes. 2017.
https://nursinghome411.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/LTCCC-Report-Nursing-Homes-Chronic-Deficiencies-
2017.pdf

47 Starting November 28, 2017 the F-Tags were renumbered. To assist in the transition, CMS issued an “F Tag
Crosswalk” that shows the original F Tag and the associated new F Tag. For additional information on F-Tags and
the new survey process visit: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-
Certification/GuidanceforLawsAndRegulations/Nursing-Homes.html

8 To view prior survey results visit: https://profiles.health.ny.gov/nursing_home/view/150362 and
https://www.medicare.gov/nursinghomecompare/profile.html#profTab=0&ID=335593&loc=14215&Iat=42.93975
53&Ing=-
78.8099472&name=EMERALD%20SOUTH%20NURSING%20AND%20REHABILITATION%20CENTER&Distn=4.2

4 As per NYS Nursing Home Profiles webpage: https://profiles.health.ny.gov/nursing_home/view/150362, last
accessed July 10, 2018
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open approximately 19 inches wide by 42
inches high).

One resident did not have quarterly
comprehensinve assessments to address
smoking safely.

Another resident who had a history of
choking was not supervised during a meal in
accordance with the care plan.

that is not 1) that
is a pattern. (E)

to resident to resident altercations and care
plans were not followed. Specifically, every
15 minute checks were not conducted per
the care plan for a resident with a history of
resident to resident altercation ((involving
Resident #3)(Resident #1)) and there was a
lack of supervision for the transfer and
ambulation on the unit to all destinations
per the care plan for a resident with a
history of wandering and entering other
resident’s rooms (Resident #2). Resident #2
wandered into Resident #1’'s room
undetected and upon entering, a resident to
resident altercation occurred. Resident #2
sustained critical injuries and was admitted
to the intensive care unit and expired three
days later. This resulted in actual harm that
is not immediate jeopardy.

is not lJ that is
isolated. (G)

12/01/16 One resident threatened self-harm with a No actual harm | 01/25/2017
sharp object. No interventions were put in with potential
place to prevent reoccurrence and resident | for more than
had access to a shart object a second time minimal harm
and threatened self-harm. that is not IJ that
is isolated. (D)
09/06/16°° | Three of six residents had issues pertaining | Actual harm that | 10/13/2016

%0 The September 6, 2016 DOH investigation followed the death of a resident, Ruth Marry, whereby Ms. Murray was
assaulted by another reisdent and died of her injuries three days later. The assailant had severe cognitive issues. The
Erie County District Attorney declined to prosecute the man since he lacked the capacity